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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Martin Shkreli appeals from a judgment, entered on March 

26, 2018, and amended on April 17, 2018, in the United States 

District Court for the Eastern District of New York (Matsumoto, 

J.), convicting him, after a jury trial, of two counts of 

securities fraud, in violation of 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78ff, 

and one count of conspiracy to commit securities fraud, in 
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violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, and sentencing him to a term of 84 

months’ imprisonment on Counts Three and Six and a term of 60 

months’ imprisonment on Count Eight, to run concurrently, a $75,000 

fine, restitution in the amount of $388,336.89 and a total 

forfeiture money judgment amount of $7,360,450, to be partially 

satisfied by various substitute assets. 

Shkreli raises two issues on appeal, arguing that the 

district court erred (1) by including a “no ultimate harm” 

instruction for the securities fraud counts, and by not including 

language in that instruction related to an element of wire fraud, 

and (2) by imposing forfeiture on Counts Three and Six in the full 

amount of defrauded investors’ investments, and in further finding 

that Shkreli failed to meet his burden to show he was entitled to 

a reduction of such forfeiture for “direct costs.”  For the reasons 

set forth herein, these arguments are unavailing, and the district 

court’s judgment should be upheld in all respects. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. The Indictment and Superseding Indictment 

On December 14, 2015, a grand jury in the Eastern 

District of New York returned an indictment against Martin Shkreli 

and his co-conspirator Evan Greebel.  (A:8, DE:1).1  The indictment 

charged Shkreli with seven counts for his participation in three 

fraud schemes involving MSMB Capital Management LP (“MSMB Capital 

Scheme”), MSMB Healthcare Management LP (“MSMB Healthcare Scheme”) 

and Retrophin, Inc. (“Retrophin Theft Scheme”).2  On June 3, 2016, 

a grand jury in the Eastern District of New York returned a 

superseding indictment against Shkreli and Greebel, which charged 

both defendants with an additional count for their participation 

in a fourth fraud scheme (the “Retrophin Unrestricted Shares 

Scheme”).  (A:58).   

For the MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare Schemes, 

Shkreli was charged with conspiracy to commit securities fraud, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Counts One and Four), conspiracy to 

commit wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349 (Counts Two 

and Five), and securities fraud, in violation of 15 U.S.C. 

                     
1 Parenthetical references to “Br.,” “A,” “SPA,” and “GA,” 

are to Shkreli’s brief, appendix and special appendix on appeal, 

and the government’s appendix, respectively.  References to “DE” 

are to docket entries on the district court docket. 

2 Greebel was also charged in Count Seven, but not in 

Counts One through Six. 
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§§ 78j(b) and 78ff (Counts Three and Six), for defrauding investors 

in the hedge funds MSMB Capital Management LP (“MSMB Capital”) and 

MSMB Healthcare Management LP (“MSMB Healthcare”) (together, the 

“MSMB Funds”) by making material misrepresentations and omissions 

to both induce investment in, and prevent redemptions from, the 

MSMB Funds.  (A:61-68, A:79-86). 

For the Retrophin Theft Scheme, Shkreli and Greebel were 

charged with conspiracy to commit wire fraud, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1349 (Count Seven), for defrauding the public 

pharmaceutical company Retrophin, Inc. (“Retrophin”) by 

misappropriating its assets.  (A:68-76, 86-87). 

For the Retrophin Unrestricted Shares Scheme, Shkreli 

and Greebel were charged with conspiracy to commit securities 

fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Count Eight), for 

defrauding investors and potential investors in Retrophin by 

seeking to control the price and trading volume of Retrophin shares 

through Shkreli’s beneficial ownership of almost all of 

Retrophin’s unrestricted shares.  (A:77-79, 87-90). 

II. The Government’s Trial Evidence 

Shkreli’s trial commenced on June 26, 2017.  (A:31).3  

The government introduced approximately 800 exhibits and the 

                     
3 The district court granted Shkreli and Greebel’s motions 

to sever.  (A:24, DE:198).  Greebel proceeded to a separate jury 
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testimony of 24 witnesses.  The government’s evidence established 

the following:  

A. Overview of Shkreli and Greebel’s Roles 

In 2006, Shkreli founded and then operated a hedge fund 

called Elea Capital.  (GA:54, 61-86, 92-94, 124-25; GX:904).4  

Shkreli then founded and operated hedge funds MSMB Capital in 2009, 

and MSMB Healthcare in 2011.  (GX:126-1, 906).  Shkreli then 

founded Retrophin, a pharmaceutical company, in 2011.  (GX:119-

5).  Shkreli, with Greebel’s help, took Retrophin public through 

a reverse merger with shell company Desert Gateway in December 

2012.  (GX:103-17, 220).  Greebel was an attorney and a law partner 

in the New York office of Katten Muchin Rosenmann LLP, who served 

as lead outside counsel to Retrophin.  (GA:183-85, 186-87, 189-

90, 220; GX:122-22).  Shkreli subsequently served as Retrophin’s 

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and a member of its Board of 

Directors between December 2012 and September 2014, at which point 

he was removed from his position as CEO.  (GA:209-22, 229-34;  

GX:122-44).   

                     

trial and was convicted of Counts Seven and Eight on December 27, 

2017.  (DE:501). 

4 Parenthetical references to “GX” are to the government’s 

trial exhibits; as noted in the GA, certain GXs have been included 

on a separate CD. 
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B. Shkreli’s Failure at Elea Capital  

In 2006, Shkreli founded a hedge fund called Elea 

Capital.  (GA:61-62, 92-94; GX:904).  He was responsible for the 

fund’s trading activity.  (GA:82).  His investors included Josiah 

Austin, who invested $4.8 million, and George Yaffe, who invested 

$100,000.  (GA:55-62, 292-94).   

Shkreli subsequently advised Elea Capital investors that 

he had made a single risky trade that resulted in the loss of all 

money invested in Elea Capital.  (GA:81-85; 294-95; GX:905).  

Shkreli never repaid Austin for his $4.8 million investment in 

Elea Capital.  (GA:90). 

C. The MSMB Capital Fraud Scheme 

In 2009, Shkreli founded MSMB Capital, which purported 

to be a hedge fund focused on healthcare stocks.  (GA:558-611; 

GX:906).  Shkreli made material misrepresentations and omissions 

to MSMB Capital investors to induce investment and to prevent 

redemptions.  Ultimately, Shkreli either stole or lost through 

unauthorized trading all of the money invested in MSMB Capital, 

but failed to disclose those losses to investors.  As a result of 

his lies to MSMB Capital investors, Shkreli obtained and retained 

almost $3 million. 
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1. Shkreli Founded, Operated 

and Controlled MSMB Capital  

Shkreli had signatory authority over MSMB Capital’s bank 

and brokerage accounts (GX:501, 502), drafted the private 

placement memorandums (“PPMs”) (GA:558-611; GX:1A, 907), recruited 

investors, (see, e.g., GA:25-41), was responsible for all trading 

and investment decisions (GA:33, 94-95, 134, 558-61), and drafted 

and sent performance reports to investors (see, e.g., GA:724-32).  

While Shkreli was assisted in running the fund by co-conspirator 

Marek Biestek, it was Shkreli who operated and controlled MSMB 

Capital.  (GA:94-95, 134, 170-71).  

2. Shkreli’s Unauthorized Trading and Theft 

from MSMB Capital Caused the Fund to Fail 

Seven individuals invested a total of $2,998,000 in MSMB 

Capital between October 2009 and January 2011.  Steven Richardson, 

Lindsay Rosenwald and Brent Saunders invested $650,000 between 

October 2009 and November 2010.  (GX:501-E, 502-B).  During this 

period, MSMB Capital did not turn a profit; instead, Shkreli lost 

all of the money that had been invested in the fund, and MSMB 

Capital had only $330 as of November 30, 2010.  (GA:836, 837).  

Shkreli then recruited Sarah Hassan, Darren Blanton, Schuyler 

Marshall and John Neill; between December 2010 and January 2011, 

they (along with Saunders) invested approximately $2.3 million.  

(GX:501-E, 502-B).   
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On February 1, 2011, Shkreli used all the assets in MSMB 

Capital to make a series of trades shorting the stock of a single 

company called Orexigen (“OREX”).  (GA:96-111).  At the time, 

Shkreli was utilizing a trading platform from Merrill Lynch, which 

noticed his unusual pattern of trading and called Shkreli to 

confirm he had a locate5 on the OREX stock necessary to cover his 

trades.  (Id.).  Shkreli falsely claimed to have a locate.  (Id.).  

Ultimately, the OREX trades caused Shkreli to lose all of the funds 

in MSMB Capital and caused Merrill Lynch to lose $7 million.  

(Id.).  With no assets remaining in MSMB Capital, Shkreli ceased 

trading for the fund.  (GX:507).   

Merrill Lynch sued Shkreli to recover the $7 million.  

(GA:111, 783-99).  Shkreli reached a settlement agreement with 

Merrill Lynch on September 5, 2012, in which Shkreli agreed to pay 

$1.3 million and stated that MSMB Capital had $0 in assets.  (Id.). 

Shkreli also withdrew from MSMB Capital more money than 

permitted by the PPM, which stated that Shkreli was entitled to a 

1% management fee (to cover salaries, expenses, etc.) and a 20% 

net profit incentive allocation.  (GA:558-611).  Because MSMB 

Capital had only approximately $3 million invested in it, and never 

earned a profit, the maximum that Shkreli was permitted to withdraw 

                     
5 A “locate” from a broker is a confirmation that there 

are sufficient quantities of the security available to borrow to 

cover a short sale.  (GA:98-99). 
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from the fund was $30,000, his 1% management fee.  (GA:836, GX:501-

E, 502-D).  However, Shkreli withdrew more than $200,000, including 

for credit card purchases, salaries and to repay Shkreli’s personal 

debts (including payments to George Yaffe for his Elea Capital 

investment).  (GX:501-E).   

3. Shkreli’s Material Misrepresentations 

and Omissions                         

Shkreli’s material misrepresentations and omissions to 

investors both induced investment in the fund and prevented 

redemptions.   

First, Shkreli lied to investors about the fund’s assets 

under management (“AUM”).  For example, in December 2010, Shkreli 

told investors that the fund’s AUM was $35 million or $40 million 

(GA:23; GX:103-38, 105-3).  In fact, the fund never had more than 

approximately $2 million at a time.  (GA:836, 837; GX:501-E, 501-

B, 502-D).   

Second, Shkreli lied to investors and said the fund had 

an auditor and administrator.  (GA:558-611, 774; GX:1-A, 2, 105-

1).  MSMB Capital never had an auditor or administrator.  (GX:803, 

806, 809, 907, 908, 918).   

Third, Shkreli lied to investors about his personal 

track record as a hedge fund manager, and about MSMB Capital’s 

performance.  Shkreli failed to disclose to investors that his 

risky trading had caused the failure of Elea Capital, the only 
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prior hedge fund he had managed.  (See, e.g., GA:39-40, 116, 160, 

180-81; GX:1-A, 2).  Instead, he touted himself as a successful 

hedge fund manager, claiming returns in the “30 to 40 percent 

sustained range.”  (GA:170).  Shkreli also lied about the prior 

performance of MSMB Capital to investors like Hassan, Marshall and 

Neill, telling them performance to date was “strong,” 

“impressive,” and “40-percent-a-year kind of returns.”  (GA:24, 

153, 243-44).  In fact, MSMB Capital never turned a profit, and by 

November 30, 2010 — prior to Hassan, Marshall and Neill’s 

investments in MSMB Capital — the fund had only $330.  (GA:836, 

837).   

Fourth, Shkreli lied to investors about MSMB Capital’s 

investments, stating that it was a long-short hedge fund that would 

have 100 to 200 long and short positions, and would be “balanced.”  

(See, e.g., GA:33-34, 558-611; GX:1-A).  In fact, Shkreli regularly 

made large, risky bets on a single position, including when he 

invested all of MSMB Capital’s funds in a short sale of OREX stock.  

(GA:96-111).   

Fifth, Shkreli lied to investors about the ongoing 

performance of MSMB Capital after they had invested.  Despite the 

fund’s losses, Shkreli sent performance reports to the MSMB Capital 

investors detailing positive returns for the fund.  For example, 

Shkreli told Rosenwald that MSMB Capital had a cumulative return 

Case 18-819, Document 61, 11/30/2018, 2446470, Page17 of 76



11 

 

of 39.35% on November 30, 2010, even though MSMB Capital had only 

$330 on that date (GA:836; GX:76-13); he told Hassan that MSMB 

Capital had returned “+4.24% in February 2011” and “47.71% since 

inception [of the fund] on 11/1/2009,” even though MSMB Capital 

had no assets after February 1, 2011 (GA:724, 836).  Shkreli sent 

similarly false performance reports to the other investors.  (See, 

e.g., GA:723, 724-42, 860; GX:76-1 to 76-26, 77-1 to 77-26, 78-2 

to 78-6, 79-1 to 79-3, 81-1 to 81-8, 82-1 to 82-17).        

Sixth, Shkreli lied to investors about redemptions from 

the fund.  Shkreli falsely told investors that there were no “lock-

ups,” and they could redeem their money within 30 days.  (See, 

e.g., GA:558-611; GX:105-1).  In fact, the fund rarely had 

sufficient funds for redemptions and had no assets after February 

1, 2011.  (GA:836).   

Investors testified that Shkreli’s false statements 

about his prior track record and about MSMB Capital’s AUM, auditor 

and administrator, liquidity, makeup and performance were all 

important factors in their decision to invest in, and remain 

invested in, the fund.  (See, e.g., GA:33-40, 112-14, 126-27, 128-

30, 155-60, 163, 172-81, 182, 244-45, 246, 247). 

Finally, in September 2012, Shkreli sent an email 

stating that he had decided to close down MSMB Capital (the “Wind-

Down Email”).  (See, e.g., GA:769-73).  He falsely advised 
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investors that they could redeem their investments in cash, 

Retrophin shares or a combination of both; that everyone would be 

cashed out by October 31, 2012; and that MSMB Capital had returns 

since inception of approximately 100%.  (Id.).  Shkreli sent the 

Wind-Down Email just days after he stated in the Merrill Lynch 

settlement agreement that MSMB Capital had no assets.  (GA:783-

99).     

D. The MSMB Healthcare Fraud Scheme 

In February 2011, after Shkreli lost all of the money in 

MSMB Capital, he started another hedge fund called MSMB Healthcare.  

(GX:126-1).  At the same time, he started Retrophin, the 

pharmaceutical company.  (GA:136-41; GX:119-5).   

Shkreli made misrepresentations and omissions to MSMB 

Healthcare investors to induce investment in the fund and to 

prevent redemptions.  Shkreli’s trading caused MSMB Healthcare to 

lose money, and he ultimately used MSMB Healthcare solely as a 

conduit to funnel money from MSMB Healthcare investors — who 

falsely believed they were investing in a long-short hedge fund — 

to Retrophin.  Shkreli also stole money from MSMB Healthcare for 

his own personal use.  As a result of these lies, Shkreli obtained 

and retained approximately $3.4 million in funds from MSMB 

Healthcare investors.      
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1. Shkreli Founded, Operated 

and Controlled MSMB Healthcare 

Shkreli was responsible for all trading and investment 

decisions (GA:612-666, 667-722); had signatory authority over the 

fund’s accounts (GX:503-507); drafted and made changes to the PPMs 

(see, e.g., GA:835); and provided information to NAV Consulting so 

that it could generate performance reports (GX:126-25, 126-26).  

After NAV Consulting ceased work for MSMB Healthcare (GX:126-17), 

Shkreli personally created and sent performance reports for the 

fund to investors (see, e.g., GX:83-4, 90-9, 91-10).  Shkreli 

worked with co-conspirators, including Biestek and Kevin Mulleady, 

who helped pitch MSMB Healthcare to prospective investors.  

(GA:141-42, 198-99).  Shkreli controlled the information that 

Mulleady passed to investors and prospective investors.  (GA:835; 

GX:356, 358, 359, 360, 361). 

2. Shkreli’s Unauthorized Trading and 

Theft Caused Losses to MSMB Healthcare  

Twelve individuals invested a total of $3,402,450 in 

MSMB Healthcare between April 2011 and July 2012.  (GX:505-E, 506-

E, 507-B).  Alan Geller, Patrick McGowan, David Geller, Spencer 

Spielberg and Michael Lavelle invested a total of approximately 

$1.7 million between April 2011 and August 2011.  (Id.).  During 

this period, Shkreli engaged in some trading on behalf of MSMB 

Healthcare; however, by the end of October 2011, Shkreli’s trading 
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decisions had resulted in more than $1 million in losses, and the 

fund only had approximately $340,792.  (GX:507, 521).   

In October 2011, Shkreli issued a new PPM (“Revised PPM”) 

(GA:667-722) that revised the original PPM previously provided to 

investors (“Original PPM”) (GA:612-666).  The Revised PPM did not 

state that the only asset in which MSMB Healthcare would invest 

was Retrophin; to the contrary, the Revised PPM stated that the 

fund would have more than 100 and 200 “long and short positions,” 

and that no single position was “expected to exceed” 10% of the 

fund.  (GA:667-722).   

Between November 2011 and July 2012, nine investors, 

including Michael Lavelle and Richard Kocher, were induced to 

invest a total of approximately $1.9 million in the fund.  (GX:505-

E, 506-E).  Shkreli did not use that money to engage in trading 

for a long-short hedge fund, as he had promised.  Instead, Shkreli 

engaged in little additional trading, transferring all money out 

of the fund’s brokerage account by March 2012 (GA:838-42; GX:507) 

and funneling all remaining money from MSMB Healthcare to 

Retrophin; between October 2011 and December 2012, Shkreli 

transferred a net total of $2,120,800 from MSMB Healthcare to 

Retrophin.  (GA:364; GX:503-E, 504-E, 505-E, 506-E, 507-B, 507-

D).  By September 2012, MSMB Healthcare had $614; the fund’s only 
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other asset was illiquid Retrophin shares it held as a result of 

the transfers.  (GA:838-42, 843). 

Shkreli also took from MSMB Healthcare more than 

permitted by the PPM, which stated that Shkreli was entitled to a 

1% management fee and a 20% net profit incentive allocation.  (See 

GA:612-66, 667-722).  Because MSMB Healthcare had only 

approximately $3.4 million invested in it and never earned a 

profit, the maximum that Shkreli was permitted to withdraw from 

the fund was $34,000, his 1% management fee.  (GA:838-42; GX:505-

E, 506-E, 507-D).  Instead, Shkreli stole more than $1.1 million 

from the fund for personal use, including $200,000 to Blanton in 

February 2012 (as a partial redemption of his MSMB Capital 

investment) (GX:503-E, 505-E, 509-E) and $900,000 to pay part of 

the Merrill Lynch settlement (GA:803-06, 807-10, 827-34, 862, 864-

870; GX:506-E, 509-E, 510-E). 

3. Shkreli Made Material Misrepresentations 

and Omissions                             

Shkreli’s material misrepresentations and omissions to 

investors both induced investment in the fund and prevented 

redemptions.   

First, Shkreli lied to investors about his track record, 

touting himself as a successful hedge fund manager.  Shkreli failed 

to disclose to investors that the two hedge funds he had managed 
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— Elea Capital and MSMB Capital — failed as a result of his trading 

decisions.  (See, e.g., GA:149, 196, 197, 612-66, 667-72; GX:357).   

Second, Shkreli lied to investors and stated that the 

fund would be audited; however, MSMB Healthcare did not have an 

auditor.  (GA:612-16, 667-72).   

Third, Shkreli lied to investors, stating that MSMB 

Healthcare was a long-short hedge fund with 100 to 200 balanced 

positions.  (GA:195, 612-66, 667-72; GX:356).  Shkreli also falsely 

conveyed to investors that the changes in the Revised PPM would 

permit the fund only to “[m]ake a small investment in Retrophin.”  

(GA:203, 779, 835).  In truth, as set forth above, all trading in 

MSMB Healthcare had ceased by early 2012 — so the fund had no long 

or short positions — and the fund’s only investment was Retrophin.   

Fourth, Shkreli lied to investors about MSMB 

Healthcare’s liquidity and the availability of redemptions.  

Shkreli falsely advised investors that they could receive 

redemptions on a weekly or monthly basis.  (GA:148-49, 195, 612-

66, 667-72, 775-78; GX:356).  Such statements were false; the fund 

rarely if ever had sufficient funds to make redemptions.  (GA:838-

42).  

Finally, Shkreli lied to investors about the performance 

of MSMB Healthcare after they had invested in the fund.  Despite 

losing more than $1 million through trading, stealing more than $1 
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million, and funneling the remaining funds into Retrophin, Shkreli 

sent performance reports that falsely reported MSMB Healthcare had 

double-digit returns and contained additional false statements 

about MSMB Healthcare’s investment in Retrophin.  For example, 

Shkreli advised Alan Geller that MSMB Healthcare had returned 2.85% 

as of October 2011, and his investment was worth more than $1 

million.  (GA:753-54).  In truth, MSMB Healthcare had less than 

$350,000 in total as of October 31, 2011.  (GA:838-42).  Shkreli 

similarly advised Geller that the fund had returned 34.48% by July 

2012, and his investment was worth more than $1.5 million.  

(GA:767-68).  At that time, however, MSMB Healthcare had less than 

$115,000, and the remainder of its funds had been funneled to 

Retrophin.  (GA:838, 844-45).6  Shkreli made similar false 

statements in the performance reports sent to all investors during 

MSMB Healthcare’s operation.  (See, e.g., GA:743-68; GX:83-1 to 

83-4, 85-1 to 85-4, 86-1 to 86-2, 87-1, 88-1 to 88-4, 89-1 to 89-

16, 90-1 to 90-9, 91-1 to 91-10, 92-1 to 92-11, 93-1 to 93-5, 94-

1).   

Special Agent Michael Braconi testified about the 

difference between Shkreli’s statements about MSMB Healthcare’s 

                     
6 Retrophin itself had little money during this period 

despite regular cash infusions from MSMB Healthcare because 

Shkreli stole from the company for personal expenses, including 

for food deliveries, doctor’s appointments and concert tickets.  

(GA:236-38; GX:509-D). 
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performance in the false performance reports and the actual value 

of MSMB Healthcare’s bank and brokerage accounts.  For example, by 

July 2012, Shkreli was reporting to investors that MSMB Healthcare 

had $4.3 million in assets when it had less than $115,000.  

(GA:362-64, 838-42, 86).  Even accounting for the full value of 

the money funneled to Retrophin in that time frame, Shkreli’s 

performance reports overstated the value of MSMB Healthcare by 

more than 100%.  (Id.).7   

Investors testified that Shkreli’s false statements 

about his track record as a hedge fund manager and about the fund’s 

auditor, liquidity, redemptions, makeup and performance were 

important factors in their decision to invest in, and remain 

invested in, the fund.  (GA:148-49, 196, 197-202, 204, 207, 208).      

Finally, Shkreli sent MSMB Healthcare investors the same 

Wind-Down Email that he had sent MSMB Capital investors, which 

contained the same false statements about redemptions and double-

digit returns.  (See, e.g., GA:780-81, 838-42, 861).   

                     
7 Shkreli argued that, despite the fact that Retrophin had 

almost no money in 2012, he properly valued the company at that 

time between $40 million and $200 million, which justified the 

MSMB Healthcare performance reports; he further suggested this 

valuation was verified by third-party firm VRC.  (See, e.g., 

GA:239-42, 503-09).  However, a VRC representative testified that 

the $200 million figure came from MSMB Healthcare, and that VRC 

had done no independent verification of that figure, or any 

valuation of Retrophin.  (GA:306-61). 
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E. The Retrophin Theft Scheme 

To continue to conceal the MSMB Capital and MSMB 

Healthcare frauds, Shkreli, Greebel and others undertook a third 

fraud to pay off disgruntled MSMB Funds’ investors.  That fraud 

involved backdating documents to give the false appearance that 

MSMB Capital had invested in Retrophin, and stealing money and 

shares from Retrophin via settlement and sham consulting 

agreements to give to investors. 

1. Shkreli and Greebel Create Backdated            

Interest in Retrophin for MSMB Capital  

MSMB Capital never invested in Retrophin.  No money was 

ever transferred from MSMB Capital to Retrophin (GA:168-69; 

GX:501-E, 502-D), MSMB Capital was defunct before Retrophin was 

even founded (GX:119-5), MSMB Capital never appeared on 

Retrophin’s capitalization tables (GA:800-02, 803-06), and Shkreli 

admitted in September 2012 that the fund had no assets (GA:783-

99).     

In November and December 2012, Shkreli and Greebel 

created the false appearance that MSMB Capital had invested in 

Retrophin.  They orchestrated a series of transfers of Retrophin 

shares from co-conspirators Biestek, Mulleady and Thomas Fernandez 

to Shkreli, and then from Shkreli to MSMB Capital, all of which 

were backdated to June or July 2012.  (GA:811-24; GX:119-15, 119-

16, 119-17, 119-18, 119-19, 123-2, 221, 223, 224).  MSMB Capital 
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appeared on Retrophin’s capitalization table for the first time in 

December 2012.  (GA:825-26).  Shkreli and Greebel then falsely 

announced to the public that MSMB Capital had invested in Retrophin 

in a form 13-D filing following the reverse merger in December 

2012.  (GA:263-64, 846-59). 

2. Shkreli Distributes Retrophin Stock to Investors 

Following the Wind-Down Email, investors sought to 

redeem their interests in the MSMB Funds in cash, but Shkreli 

ignored them.  (GA:164, 206; GX:103-19).  Instead, as Retrophin 

itself was on the verge of shutting down due to a lack of assets, 

Shkreli and Greebel took Retrophin public through a reverse merger 

in December 2012.  (GX:103-17, 220).  Subsequently, Shkreli 

distributed Retrophin stock to MSMB Capital investors in January 

2013 based on the fabricated, backdated interest he and Greebel 

had created; he also distributed Retrophin stock to MSMB Healthcare 

investors in February 2013 based on the money that had been 

funneled to Retrophin in contravention of the PPMs (which was not 

otherwise lost or stolen).  (GX:125-20).  The Retrophin stock that 

investors received was restricted, which meant that it could not 

be sold for a period of time (GA:256-57); as a result, the stock 

had no inherent value to the investors at the time of distribution 

(GA:50-51, 131-33, 151-52).   
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Investors were angry.  (See, e.g., GA:782; GX:103-21, 

104-4, 107-22).  Shkreli responded with additional lies.  (GX:103-

21, 104-4).   

3. Settlement and Consulting Agreements 

Ultimately, Shkreli, Greebel and others conspired to 

force Retrophin — now a public company — to enter into “settlement” 

agreements with seven MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare investors 

to “repay” them for their investments.  (GX:51, 52, 53, 53, 54, 

55, 56, 57-A, 57-B).  The true nature and purpose of the agreements 

was concealed from Retrophin’s Board, its auditors and the 

investing public.  (See, e.g., GA:191-93, 223, 224-25; GX:316, 

320, 322, 609).  To pay the agreements, Shkreli and Greebel stole 

money and shares from Retrophin, and also redirected Fearnow 

shares8 to certain investors:  

- Rosenwald received 80,000 Fearnow shares (GX:51, 125-23, 

125-25, 271, 272, 274, 336). 

- Hassan received $400,000 (GX:52, 510-E). 

- Spielberg received $25,000 and 6,000 Retrophin shares 

(GX:125-30, 510-E). 

- Kocher received $123,711 and 47,128 Fearnow shares (GX:54, 

125-28, 271, 272, 274, 336, 510-E). 

- David Geller received $300,000 (GX:55, 510-E). 

                     
8 As detailed in Section II.F., “Fearnow shares” were 

unrestricted Retrophin shares that Shkreli and Greebel arranged to 

have distributed to, and held by, certain of Shkreli’s associates. 
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- Lavelle received $1,355,000 and 5,000 Retrophin shares 

(GX:56, 125-46, 510-E). 

- Marshall received $300,000 (GX:57-B, 510-E). 

Shkreli and his co-conspirators also stole money and 

shares from Retrophin to repay defrauded investors using sham 

consulting agreements:   

- Blanton received 200,000 Retrophin shares for allegedly 

providing consulting services (GX: 61, 125-36).  Blanton 

testified he never performed any consulting services for 

Retrophin and the agreement was to get repaid for his 

investment (GA:117, 118-20, 121-22).     

- Lee Yaffe received $200,000 and 15,000 Retrophin shares 

for allegedly providing consulting services (GX:60, 125-

37, 125-39, 510-E).  Yaffe testified he never performed 

any consulting services for Retrophin and the agreement 

was to get repaid for his father’s Elea Capital investment 

(GA:298-301).  

As with the settlement agreements, the true nature and purpose of 

the sham consulting agreements were never approved by the Board, 

and never disclosed to the Board, Retrophin’s auditors or the 

investing public.  (GA:194, 226-27; GX:343).   

In total, Shkreli, Greebel and others conspired to steal 

approximately $10.4 million in money and shares from Retrophin 

through the settlement and sham consulting agreements to repay 

debts to investors owed solely by Shkreli, MSMB Capital and MSMB 

Healthcare. 

F. The Retrophin Unrestricted Shares Fraud Scheme 

In the fourth fraud scheme, Shkreli, Greebel and others 

conspired to manipulate the price and trading volume of Retrophin’s 
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stock.  In December 2012, Shkreli and Greebel took Retrophin public 

via a reverse merger with the shell company Desert Gateway, which 

was selected because it came with a promissory note that would 

convert to 2.5 million free-trading shares following the merger.  

(GX:220).  Prior to the merger, Shkreli selected seven associates, 

and he and Greebel arranged for them to purchase 2.4 million of 

the 2.5 million free-trading shares (known as “Fearnow shares”) 

from the holder of the note at a deeply discounted price.  (GA:159-

60, 282-83; GX:120-10, 228, 701).  Shkreli and Greebel subsequently 

concealed Shkreli’s beneficial ownership of those shares, which 

they used to seek to control — and in some instances, were 

successful in controlling — the price and trading volume of 

Retrophin’s stock.   

Examples of that control included the following actions: 

(1) Fearnow share recipients were told how many shares each would 

receive (GA:283; GX:228, 231, 232, 233); (2) Shkreli directed that 

400,000 of the already-purchased Fearnow shares be held in escrow 

as collateral for the final shell payment (GA:145-47, 285-86; 

GX:119-35, 233); (3) Shkreli and Greebel arranged for the escrowed 

Fearnow shares to be transferred from their nominal owners for 

Shkreli’s benefit (GA:287; GX:271, 272, 274, 336); (4) Shkreli 

directed the Fearnow share recipients to open accounts at Scottrade 

and provide him with daily trading summaries (GA:287; GX:120-11, 
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237); (5) Shkreli encouraged Fearnow recipients to trade stock at 

his direction, and others to purchase stock to increase the price 

and trading volume of Retrophin (GA:284; GX:105-18, 120-14); 

(6) Shkreli and Greebel sought to control Fearnow shares 

distributed to Tim Pierotti when they discovered that Pierotti was 

selling against Shkreli’s wishes (GX:245, 249), including trying 

to give Pierotti inside information (GA:290-91; GX:248), freezing 

Pierotti’s brokerage account (GA:289; GX:120-9) and causing 

Retrophin to sue Pierotti (GX:120-8, 251, 275); Shkreli also sent 

Pierotti a letter threatening his family (GX:120-9).   

Shkreli and Greebel deliberately concealed Shkreli’s 

control over the Fearnow shares by failing to disclose his 

beneficial ownership of those shares on Retrophin’s Form 13-D 

filing.  (GA:846-59; GX:105-21).  Trading data showed that, 

particularly during the first months after the reverse merger, 

Shkreli’s control over the Fearnow shares in fact permitted the 

co-conspirators to control the price and trading volume of 

Retrophin.  (GA:249-81; GX:701, 702, 703). 

III. Shkreli’s Defense to the MSMB Capital 
and MSMB Healthcare Fraud Schemes     

Throughout the trial, defense counsel argued repeatedly 

that Shkreli was not guilty of the crimes charged because (1) the 

investors originally invested and then maintained their 

investments in the MSMB Funds due solely to Shkreli’s “genius,” 
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and (2) even if Shkreli had not been entirely truthful, the 

investors were not defrauded because they ultimately received more 

money than they had originally invested.   

In his opening statement, defense counsel argued that 

Shkreli “didn’t lie to the [MSMB Capital and Healthcare investors].  

They were betting on [his] genius.”  (GA:20).  Counsel further 

stated: “Nobody was defrauded.  Nobody lost money.  The witnesses 

who are going to come in here are grudgingly going to admit that 

they made millions of dollars on the advice of Martin Shkreli.”  

(GA:19).  Counsel conceded that not everything that Shkreli said 

was “100 percent accurate,” but argued he was always “truthful to 

the mission [to] make Retrophin a very big success and we will pay 

everybody [back].”  (GA:21). 

In closing, defense counsel continued his refrain that 

Shkreli’s “rich” investors relied solely on Shkreli’s “genius” 

when they decided to invest in, and maintain their investments in, 

the MSMB Funds.  (GA:449, 501-02, 512, 515, 517).  He also argued 

that, while Shkreli may have said to an investor “something which 

may not have been truthful at the moment,” he “was always truthful 

to the mission” to make “Retrophin a success.”  (GA:500, 513; see 

also GA:510-11, 514).  Counsel further argued, “Nobody in this 

case who invested with Martin Shkreli suffered economic harm 

whatsoever.  And listen to the Court’s instructions with respect 
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to wire fraud to see if they’re required to have sustain [sic] 

some loss.”  (GA:518; see also GA:519-20, 522, 523-24). 

The government responded: 

The Judg will instruct you on the law and 

you will hear that when you lie to people 

knowingly and intentionally to get their 

money, it’s a crime.  And that is exactly what 

Martin Shkreli did, he knowingly lied over and 

over again to his investors to get their money 

and then to keep their money[.]  I also want 

to be crystal clear on one point, it doesn’t 

matter if you paid people back years later 

after you’ve stolen their money and you’ve 

lost all of their money, those people are 

still victims of fraud.  This part of the law 

was completely lost on Mr. Brafman during his 

summation. 

(GA:525; see also GA:526). 

IV. The Jury Instructions 

The parties provided the district court with proposed 

jury instructions on April 21, 2017, and both sets of proposed 

charges included a “no ultimate harm” instruction (“NUH 

instruction”) for both the wire fraud and securities fraud counts.  

(DE:203, DE:207).  On July 25, 2017, the court issued proposed 

jury instructions (“Draft Charge”) which had the same language for 

the NUH instruction for both the securities fraud and wire fraud 

counts.  (DE:286; GA:527-54).  

A charge conference was held on July 26, 2017.  (GA:374-

491).  When the parties reached the NUH instruction for the 

securities fraud counts on page 41 of the Draft Charge, defense 
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counsel objected to the proposed language for that instruction, 

arguing that the district court should include additional language 

from United States v. Berkovich, 168 F.3d 64 (2d Cir. 1999), 

regarding the obtaining of money or property element of wire fraud.  

(A:169-72, 173-74).  The court responded that Berkovich “was a 

mail fraud case.  The money or property language may be necessary 

for mail and wire fraud, but what this charge is addressed to is 

securities fraud, which does not require intent to cause loss under 

United States v. Litvak.  Which is, I think, why we did talk about 

this distinction and why we didn’t put it in.”  (A:174).  Defense 

counsel responded, “I quite frankly hadn’t thought of the 

distinction between securities fraud and mail fraud until you 

brought it up.”  (Id.).   

Defense counsel then requested the Berkovich language be 

included in the NUH instruction for the wire fraud counts.  

(A:173).  He stated that “while I think the Court makes a good 

point, that wire fraud – because wire fraud involves the 

contemplated deprivation of property, whereas securities fraud 

does not, I think the no ultimate harm charge in the wire fraud 

context should contain the additional language, by him to obtain 

money or property.”  (A:178) (emphasis added).  He later stated, 

“My concern is that we might have two somewhat different no 

ultimate harm charges, one - and maybe that’s okay.”  (A:179).   
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Defense counsel also asked that the Berkovich language 

be included again at the end of the NUH instruction for wire fraud; 

specifically, he requested the addition of “for the purpose of 

causing some loss to another.”  (A:188-89).  The district court 

agreed to include the additional language from Berkovich in the 

NUH instruction for the wire fraud counts, and left the NUH 

instruction as it had originally proposed for the securities fraud 

counts.  (A:190-91).  Defense counsel did not object to the 

differences between the two NUH instructions.  

The government then requested that, in the section of 

the jury instructions regarding Shkreli’s good faith defense, the 

district court include a reference to the NUH instructions, because 

excluding such a reference would be prejudicial to the government.  

(A:207-11).  Defense counsel objected.  (A:208-12).  The court 

concluded that a reference in the good faith defense section back 

to the previous NUH instructions would address the government’s 

concern.  (A:212-13).  Defense counsel then stated a general 

objection to the inclusion of any NUH instruction, even though he 

acknowledged that it is a “recognized charge in the Second Circuit” 

and “Your Honor’s absolutely following Second Circuit law in giving 

it.”  (A:219).             

The district court issued a revised set of jury 

instructions (“Final Charge”), and requested any further 
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objections in writing.  (DE:290).  Defense counsel affirmed it had 

no objections to the Final Charge other than those “raised and 

previously preserved” during the charge conference.  (DE:292).  

The Final Charge included the following NUH instruction 

for the securities fraud counts: 

In considering whether or not a defendant 

acted in good faith, you are instructed that 

a belief by the defendant, if such belief 

existed, that ultimately everything would work 

out so that no investors would lose any money 

does not require a finding by you that the 

defendant acted in good faith.  No amount of 

honest belief on the part of a defendant that 

the scheme ultimately will make a profit for 

the investors will excuse fraudulent actions 

or false representations by him. 

As a practical matter, then, to prove the 

charge against a defendant, the government 

must establish beyond a reasonable doubt that 

the defendant knew that his conduct as a 

participant in the scheme was calculated to 

deceive and, nonetheless, he associated 

himself with the alleged fraudulent scheme. 

(A:277).   

The Final Charge also included the following NUH 

instruction for the wire fraud counts: 

There is another consideration to bear in mind 

in deciding whether or not the defendant acted 

in good faith. You are instructed that if the 

defendant conspired to commit wire fraud, then 

a belief by the defendant, if such a belief 

existed, that ultimately everything would work 

out so that no one would lose any money does 

not require you to find that the defendant 

acted in good faith. No amount of honest 

belief on the part of the defendant that the 

scheme would, for example, ultimately make a 
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profit for investors, will excuse fraudulent 

actions or false representations caused by him 

to obtain money or property.  I reiterate, 

however, that an “intent to defraud” for the 

purposes of the wire fraud statute means to 

act knowingly and with specific intent to 

deceive for the purpose of causing financial 

loss or property loss to another.  As a 

practical matter, then, you may find intent to 

defraud if the defendant knew that his conduct 

as a participant in the scheme was calculated 

to deceive and, nonetheless, he associated 

himself with the alleged fraudulent scheme for 

the purpose of causing loss to another. 

(A:304).  

V. Jury Deliberation, the Juror Note and Conviction 

The jury was charged on July 28, 2017.  Prior to 

deliberations, the district court asked if there were any 

objections to the Final Charge, and defense counsel stated, “we 

obviously reserve the objections we made and if we leave in that 

with respect to no ultimate harm but other than that, we have no 

objections to the Court’s Charge, other than what was previously 

named.”  (A:324).  

Jury deliberations began on July 31, 2017.  (A:38).  The 

next day, the jury sent a note that posed three questions.  (A:326-

37, DE:304; GA:555).  The third question (“Question Three”) stated: 

“Can you expand or elaborate your definition of fraudulent intent?”  

(Id.).   

The district court asked the parties to confer about a 

response.  (A:327).  With respect to Question Three, defense 
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counsel stated that he “d[idn’t] know how you expand or elaborate 

with the definition of fraudulent intent beyond what you have in 

your charge because I think we worked pretty hard together and 

it’s in the charge.  I don’t know what else you would tell them.”  

(A:327-28).  The court stated it was “open to helping the jurors 

better understand fraudulent intent if our instructions alone were 

not sufficient.  It appears that the instructions, I think, though 

legally consistent with the law, may benefit from some further 

clarification; and we can look to case law to do that, if that’s 

necessary.”  (A:329). 

After a brief recess, the government proposed that for 

Question Three, the jurors be referred to the specific pages of 

the Final Charge that addressed fraudulent intent.  (A 335-36).  

Defense counsel agreed, but argued that the jurors should also be 

referred to pages that defined “good faith and reliance on counsel” 

because those instructions are “part of the court’s charge whenever 

you talk about intent.”  (A:336).  The district court agreed to 

include the additional pages proposed by defense counsel in its 

answer.  (Id.).  Defense counsel did not propose any other response 

to Question Three, and it consented to the court’s response to the 

jury.  (A:336-39). 

The district court’s response to Question Three was read 

to the jury and provided in writing.  (A:340-41; DE:304; GA:556).  
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It specified that fraudulent intent “is defined separately for the 

counts related to securities fraud . . . and wire fraud” and then 

referenced the page ranges for each definition, which included in 

each case the NUH instruction.  (Id.).  

The jury continued to deliberate for three full days 

after receiving the district court’s response to the juror note.  

On the afternoon of August 4, 2017, the jury returned a verdict of 

guilty on Counts Three, Six and Eight.  (A:39). 

VI. The Post-Trial Motions 

Three motions were filed by the parties post-trial:  

Shkreli’s motion for a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Rule 29 

of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure on Count Eight (“Rule 

29 Motion”) (A:42, DE:363)9; Shkreli’s motion arguing that there 

was no applicable loss enhancement pursuant to the Guidelines 

(“Loss Motion”) (A:48, DE:527); and the government’s motion for 

forfeiture (“Forfeiture Motion”) (A:345-54).  After the three 

motions were fully briefed, the district court heard oral argument 

on February 23, 2018.  (A:385-433).   

On February 26, 2018, the district court issued a 96-

page memorandum (“February 26 Memo”) (SPA:16-111), in which it 

                     
9 During trial, Shkreli moved pursuant to Rule 29 on all 

counts; that motion was denied.  (GA:382-406).  Post-trial, Shkreli 

renewed his Rule 29 motion only on Count Eight.  (A:42, DE:363).  
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detailed the trial evidence (SPA:17-69), and then denied Shkreli’s 

Rule 29 Motion and the Loss Motion (SPA:70-116).  The court 

acknowledged Shkreli had not renewed his Rule 29 motion on Counts 

Three and Six (see SPA:72), but nonetheless concluded the 

government presented evidence sufficient to convict Shkreli on 

both counts (SPA 72-82), and also found the government’s evidence 

on Count Eight was sufficient (SPA:82-99).  The court also 

determined the appropriate loss amounts for Counts Three and Six 

were the total amount of the investments into each fund.  (SPA:99-

103). 

On March 5, 2018, the district court issued a second 

memorandum detailing its forfeiture decision (the “March 5 Memo”).  

(SPA:120-34).  It set forth the appropriate legal standard for the 

imposition of forfeiture (SPA:121-22), then applied that law to 

the facts of Counts Three, Six and Eight (SPA:123-33).  In 

discussing Counts Three and Six, the March 5 Memo at times cited 

the factual findings from the February 26 Memo.  (SPA 120-34).  

The court then made additional factual findings, rejected 

Shkreli’s remaining arguments related to “direct costs” and found 

the appropriate forfeiture amount was $7,360,450: all money 

invested in MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare ($2,998,000 for Count 

Three and $3,402,450 for Count Six), as well as $960,000 for Count 

Eight.  (SPA:120-34). 
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VII. Sentencing and Judgment 

On March 9, 2018, the district court sentenced Shkreli 

to 84 months’ imprisonment on Counts Three and Six and 60 months’ 

imprisonment on Count Eight, to run concurrently, a $75,000 fine 

and a total forfeiture money judgment amount of $7,360,450, to be 

partially satisfied by various substitute assets.  (A:49, DE:565).  

The court stated it would determine restitution at a later date.  

(Id.).  Judgment was entered on March 26, 2018.  (A:50, DE:566).  

On April 9, 2018, the court found that Shkreli owed defrauded MSMB 

Healthcare investor Kocher $388,336.49 in restitution.  (A:51-52).  

On April 17, 2018, the court entered an amended judgment reflecting 

the restitution order.  (SPA:1). 
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ARGUMENT 

POINT ONE  

 

THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS WERE CORRECT 

Shkreli contends that the district court erred in giving 

a NUH instruction for the securities fraud counts despite the fact 

that the cornerstone of his defense was that he always believed 

the MSMB Capital and Healthcare investors he defrauded would 

ultimately make money notwithstanding his material 

misrepresentations and omissions.  (Br.38-41).  Shkreli further 

argues that even if such an instruction were properly included, it 

was legally infirm because the district court failed to include 

language regarding the scienter element of wire fraud.  (Br.41-

45).   

Shkreli’s arguments are meritless.  This Court has 

routinely upheld the inclusion of a NUH instruction in securities 

fraud cases where the appropriate factual predicate exists, and 

this case is the paradigmatic example of one in which such an 

instruction is appropriate.  Moreover, Shkreli’s contention that 

the district court should have included in the NUH instruction for 

securities fraud language regarding the scienter element of wire 

fraud — an entirely different crime with a different scienter 

standard — is without legal basis, and would have served to confuse 

the jury and give Shkreli an unfair windfall, as it would 
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improperly raise the government’s burden of proof on those counts.  

For these reasons, the jury instructions were legally correct and 

should be upheld. 

I. Applicable Law 

A. Standard of Review 

While preserved challenges to jury instructions are 

reviewed de novo, an appellate court “will reverse only where the 

charge . . . demonstrates prejudicial error.”  United States v. 

Rivera, 799 F.3d 180, 186 (2d Cir. 2015) (internal quotation marks 

omitted).  Where a “defendant requested a different jury 

instruction from the one actually given, the defendant bears the 

burden of showing that the requested instruction accurately 

represented the law in every respect and” and that he was 

prejudiced.  United States v. Nektalov, 461 F.3d 309, 313-14 (2d 

Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted).  In reviewing 

instructions, this Court does not look only to the particular 

challenged words or phrases, but must “review the instructions as 

a whole to see if the entire charge delivered a correct 

interpretation of the law.”  United States v. Carr, 880 F.2d 1550, 

1555 (2d Cir. 1989) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

If a defendant did not object to a particular 

instruction, a plain error standard of review applies.  United 
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States v. Rossomando, 144 F.3d 197, 200 (2d Cir. 1998).  Under 

this standard, 

an appellate court may, in its 

discretion, correct an error not raised at 

trial only where the appellant demonstrates 

that (1) there is an error; (2) the error is 

clear or obvious, rather than subject to 

reasonable dispute; (3) the error affected the 

appellant’s substantial rights, which in the 

ordinary case means it affected the outcome of 

the district court proceedings; and (4) the 

error seriously affects the fairness, 

integrity or public reputation of judicial 

proceedings. 

United States v. Marcus, 560 U.S. 258, 262 (2010) (alterations and 

internal quotation marks omitted). 

B. Scienter for Wire Fraud and Securities Fraud 

The scienter element differs for wire fraud and 

securities fraud.  The elements of wire fraud are: “(1) a scheme 

to defraud; (2) money or property as an object to the scheme; and 

(3) use of the . . . wires to further the scheme.”  United States 

v. Dinome, 86 F.3d 277, 283 (2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation 

marks and alterations omitted).  For the second element, the 

government must prove “that some actual harm or injury was 

contemplated by the schemer,” but it need not show that a defendant 

was successful in causing such harm.  Id.  (internal quotation 

marks omitted) (emphasis in original); United States v. Gole, 158 

F.3d 166, 167-68 (2d Cir. 1998).  
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By contrast, an “intent to harm” is not a component of 

the scienter element of securities fraud.  United States v. Litvak, 

808 F.3d 160, 178-79 (2d Cir. 2015).  Instead, “liability for 

securities fraud requires proof that the defendant acted with 

scienter, which is defined as a mental state embracing intent to 

deceive, manipulate or defraud.”  Id. at 178 (internal quotation 

marks omitted).  In other words, to prevail on a securities fraud 

charge, the government does not have to prove that a defendant 

intended to obtain a victim’s money or property, only that he or 

she intended to deceive the victim in connection with the sale of 

securities.  Id. at 178 (citing United States v. Vilar, 729 F.3d 

62, 92-93 (2d Cir. 2013)).   

II. Argument 

Shkreli makes two main arguments: (1) a NUH instruction 

is never legally appropriate in a securities fraud case, including 

this one, and (2) the disparate NUH instructions for wire fraud 

and securities fraud here were legally improper, confusing and 

prejudicial.  For the reasons set forth below, these arguments are 

unavailing. 

A. The “No Ultimate Harm” Instruction 

Is Legally Appropriate for Securities 

Fraud Cases and a Factual Predicate 

Exists Here                           

Shkreli contends that a NUH instruction is never legally 

appropriate for a securities fraud count because “intent to cause 
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a loss is not an element of the crime.”  (Br.39-41).  Shkreli 

further argues that even if a NUH instruction might be appropriate 

in certain securities fraud cases, there was no factual predicate 

for one here.  (Br.41-44).     

As an initial matter, defense counsel acknowledged that 

the district court was “absolutely following Second Circuit law in 

giving” a NUH instruction, although he appears to have argued that 

he disagreed with Second Circuit precedent in this regard.  (A:219, 

324).  To the extent that defense counsel’s objection could be 

construed as an objection to the inclusion of the NUH instruction 

on the securities fraud counts, such objection is reviewed de novo, 

and Shkreli bears the burden of showing that inclusion of the 

instruction was both legally improper and that he was prejudiced 

as a result.  See Nektalov, 461 F.3d at 313-14.  He cannot meet 

that burden here.   

Shkreli cites no legal authority for the broad statement 

that a NUH instruction is never legally appropriate in a securities 

fraud case.  To the contrary, as Shkreli acknowledges (Br.40-41), 

this Court has routinely upheld the inclusion of a NUH instruction 

in securities fraud cases.  See, e.g., United States v. Leonard, 

529 F.3d 83, 91-92 (2d Cir. 2008) (upholding inclusion of NUH 

instruction for both securities fraud and mail fraud charges); 

United States v. Lange, 834 F.3d 58, 78-79 (2d Cir. 2016) 
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(upholding inclusion of NUH instruction for securities fraud and 

wire fraud charges), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 685 (2017); United 

States v. Levis, 488 F. App’x 481, 486 (2d Cir. 2012) (same).   

The appropriateness of the instruction is fact based, 

and in cases in which the facts support such an instruction, as 

they do here, this charge is legally appropriate and necessary to 

prevent juror confusion.  See, e.g., Leonard, 529 F.3d at 91; 

Lange, 834 F.3d at 79 (finding factual predicate for NUH 

instruction existed for securities and wire fraud charges where 

defendants “intended to immediately deprive investors of their 

capital through fraud, even if they truly believed that in the 

long-term [the investment opportunity] would ultimately succeed, 

deriving profits for the defrauded investors”) (citing Rossomando, 

144 F.3d at 200-01)).  As set forth above, Shkreli’s primary 

defense at trial was exactly the kind of improper argument that 

the NUH instruction was designed to address: that despite his many 

misrepresentations and omissions to the MSMB Capital and MSMB 

Healthcare investors, he did not have the requisite intent to 

defraud those investors because he believed that the investors 

would ultimately make money from their investments.  Consequently, 

there was a clear factual predicate for the NUH instruction for 

the securities fraud counts.  (Id.). 
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B. The “No Ultimate Harm” Instruction 

for the Securities Fraud Counts Was 

Legally Sound, Not Prejudicial and 

Did Not Constitute Plain Error      

Shkreli also argues that the NUH instruction for 

securities fraud was legally infirm because the district court 

should have included in that instruction language from United 

States v. Berkovich, 168 F.3d 64 (2d Cir. 1999), regarding an 

element of wire fraud.  (Br.41-45). 

As an initial matter, while defense counsel objected to 

the inclusion of any NUH instruction, he failed to object to the 

district court’s decision to employ different language for the NUH 

instructions for the wire fraud and securities fraud counts.  In 

fact, defense counsel agreed that there are different scienter 

standards for wire fraud and securities fraud and appeared to agree 

with the district court that, as a result, the NUH instructions 

should contain language tailored to each set of counts.  (A:178-

79, 188-89).  Moreover, when the court gave defense counsel the 

opportunity to “clarif[y]” the jury instructions related to 

“fraudulent intent” after receiving the juror note, defense 

counsel declined to propose any additional language.  (A:329, 335-

36).  Instead, defense counsel requested that the court answer 

Question Three by referring the jury back to the very NUH 

instructions Shkreli now claims were improperly drafted; that 

request was granted.  (A:336).  Consequently, the proper standard 
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of review for Shkreli’s arguments about any differential between 

the two NUH instructions is plain error.  See Rossomando, 144 F.3d 

at 200. 

Applying this standard, Shkreli’s arguments fail for 

several reasons.  First, the district court’s instructions 

regarding fraudulent intent for both securities fraud and wire 

fraud were legally accurate and thorough.  The district court 

considered Shkreli’s initial objection to the NUH instructions and 

adopted his request to include certain language from Berkovich in 

the NUH instruction for the wire fraud charge.  After recognizing 

the differences in the scienter element for securities fraud and 

wire fraud, the court properly rejected including wire fraud-

specific language from Berkovich in the NUH instruction for 

securities fraud, which defense counsel appeared to affirm was 

appropriate.  (A:178-79, 188-89).   

Moreover, the NUH language incorporated in the good 

faith defense portion of the securities fraud charge accurately 

stated the law in this Circuit, and was the exact same language 

affirmed by this Court in Leonard, another case in which the 

defendants were charged with both securities fraud and wire fraud.  

Leonard, 529 F.3d at 91.  The district court also included detailed 

language regarding the defense of good faith both before and after 

each NUH instruction, which minimized any risk of confusion from 
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the instruction itself.10  See Berkovich, 168 F.3d at 67 (noting 

that the inclusion of similar language following the NUH 

instruction minimized juror confusion). 

Shkreli’s attempts to analogize the facts of this case 

to the facts in Rossomando (Br.40-42), rendering the NUH 

instruction given for the securities fraud counts here infirm 

(Br.27, 38), is also misguided.  In Rossomando, the defendant, a 

disabled firefighter, did not believe that his misrepresentations 

on his pension fund forms could result in him obtaining any money 

from the pension fund.  144 F.3d at 202.  In other words, “the 

essence of Rossomando’s defense was not that he thought the Pension 

Fund would not ‘ultimately’ lose money, but that he thought it was 

never going to lose money because his income was well below the 

level at which the false information he provided would become 

relevant.”  Id. (emphasis in original).  Accordingly, the Court 

found that the NUH instruction given in Rossomando, read in light 

of the facts of that case, was confusing, and could lead the jury 

                     
10 Shkreli argues that the district court intended, but 

failed, to include the language from Berkovich proposed by defense 

counsel in both NUH instructions, based on an exchange between the 

court and defense counsel about copying language in the good faith 

defense section of the securities fraud charge to a similar 

location in the wire fraud charge.  (Br.30-31, 39).  This is 

incorrect.  It is clear that, during the exchange in question, the 

court and defense counsel were focused on the language immediately 

after the NUH instruction, which provided further clarification of 

the good faith standard for each anti-fraud charge, and not the 

NUH instruction itself.  (GA:374-491).   
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to believe that Rossomando could be guilty of wire fraud even if 

he had no intent to deprive the pension fund of money at any point 

in time.  Id. 

Here, unlike in Rossomando, Shkreli clearly intended to 

deprive fund investors of millions of dollars when he made material 

misrepresentations and omissions to them, even if he believed at 

the time that he would ultimately provide them with a profit.11  

Shkreli’s defense therefore supports the NUH instruction given by 

the district court for the securities fraud counts, minimizing the 

risk of juror confusion that existed in Rossomando.   

  Additionally, contrary to Shkreli’s assertions, the jury 

note asking for the district court to elaborate on “fraudulent 

intent” does not evidence juror confusion regarding the NUH 

instructions.  (Br.36-37, 44-45).  The juror note did not specify 

the source of any confusion regarding the proof required to show 

Shkreli’s fraudulent intent for either securities fraud or wire 

fraud, and the jury did not submit additional notes reflecting the 

origin of any confusion.  To argue that any confusion regarding 

                     
11 The wire fraud statute does not require the government 

to prove that Shkreli intended to “lose” investors’ money at the 

time he made his material misrepresentations and omissions, as 

Shkreli repeatedly argues.  (See, e.g., Br.41-42, 44-45).  Instead, 

the statute requires that the government demonstrate that Shkreli 

made material misrepresentations and omissions to obtain money 

from investors.  18 U.S.C. § 1343.  The evidence shows Shkreli 

clearly had that intent here.   
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fraudulent intent, an inherently complicated concept, stemmed from 

two legally proper NUH instructions is far too speculative to 

overturn the jury’s verdict here.   

Finally, Shkreli’s argument that the “split verdict” 

also demonstrates the jury’s confusion from the NUH instructions 

is without merit.  (Br.27-28, 32-33, 38, 44-45).  As set forth 

above, Shkreli was charged with three counts in connection with 

each hedge fund scheme: securities fraud conspiracy, wire fraud 

conspiracy, and securities fraud.  As Shkreli concedes (Br.27 

n.13), in convicting Shkreli of securities fraud for both the MSMB 

Capital and MSMB Healthcare Schemes, and acquitting him of both 

conspiracy charges for each fund scheme, it is clear that the jury 

found that Shkreli was guilty of securities fraud but did not find 

that the government had proven beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Shkreli had conspired with others to commit fraud (either 

securities fraud or wire fraud).  The verdict therefore does not 

support Shkreli’s argument that the NUH instructions caused juror 

confusion; instead, the logical interpretation of the verdict is 

that the jury found that Shkreli was the sole mastermind behind 

the two fund schemes, and did not conspire with others to defraud 

investors.12 

                     
12 The NUH instruction did not apply to Counts Seven and 

Eight, so Shkreli’s inclusion of the jury’s verdict with respect 
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* * * 

In sum, because the jury instructions regarding “no 

ultimate harm” were correct, the district court did not err, and 

the jury’s verdict should be upheld. 

  

                     

to those charges in support of his “split verdict” assertion is 

specious.  
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POINT TWO 

 

THE FORFEITURE JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY CALCULATED 

Shkreli does not dispute the sufficiency of the evidence 

on Counts Three or Six.  Nevertheless, Shkreli now argues that the 

district court improperly imposed a $2,998,000 forfeiture judgment 

on Count Three and a $3,402,450 forfeiture judgment on Count Six 

because the government only proved by a preponderance of the 

evidence at trial that he unlawfully obtained or retained 

$1,750,000 from MSMB Capital investors and $400,000 from MSMB 

Healthcare investors.  (Br.59-65).  Shkreli also argues that these 

forfeiture amounts should be further reduced to zero due to “direct 

costs,” specifically (1) trading losses incurred by the MSMB Funds 

and (2) money and shares certain investors received from Shkreli 

years after their initial investments, much of which was stolen by 

Shkreli and others from Retrophin.  (Br.65-71).  For the reasons 

set forth below, Shkreli’s arguments are without merit.13   

I. Applicable Law 

A. Standard of Review 

“When a forfeiture award is challenged on appeal, this 

Court reviews the district court’s legal conclusions de novo and 

                     
13 Shkreli does not appeal the district court’s finding of 

$960,000 in forfeiture on Count Eight (SPA:129-132), nor its 

finding that the government may seize substitute assets (SPA:132-

34). 
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its factual findings for clear error.”  United States v. Treacy, 

639 F.3d 32, 47 (2d Cir. 2011) (citing United States v. Sabhnani, 

599 F.3d 215, 261 (2d Cir. 2010)). 

B. Criminal Forfeiture 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), a court may, and 

with notice to the defendant and upon the government’s request 

must, order the forfeiture of “[a]ny property which constitutes or 

is derived from proceeds” of various offenses, including 

securities fraud.  United States v. Contorinis, 692 F.3d 136, 145 

(2d Cir. 2012) (alteration in original).  The statute’s language 

is intended to capture broadly all proceeds a defendant obtained 

as a result of his crime.  See United States v. Torres, 703 F.3d 

194, 199-200 (2d Cir. 2012) (“so long as there is a causal nexus 

between the wrongdoer’s possession of the property and her crime, 

the property may be said to have been ‘obtained’ by her 

‘indirectly’ as a result of her offense”). 

The district court applied the more limited definition 

of “proceeds” set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(2)(B).  (SPA:124 

(noting government’s argument that, for fraud in the inducement 

cases, the gross definition of proceeds set forth in 18 U.S.C. 

§ 981(a)(2)(A) applies)).  Section 981(a)(2)(B)  defines “proceeds” 

as “the amount of money acquired through the illegal transactions 

resulting in the forfeiture, less the direct costs incurred in 
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providing the goods or services.”  Contorinis, 692 F.3d at 145-

46.     

The government bears the burden of establishing the 

amount of money subject to forfeiture by a preponderance of the 

evidence.  United States v. Capoccia, 503 F.3d 103, 115-16 (2d. 

Cir. 2007).  “The calculation of forfeiture amounts is not an exact 

science.”  Treacy, 639 F.3d at 48.  Accordingly, “[a] court is 

permitted to use general points of reference as a starting point 

for calculating the losses or gains from fraudulent transactions 

and may make reasonable extrapolations from the evidence 

established by a preponderance.”  Id. 

When applying § 981(a)(2)(B)’s definition of proceeds, 

the burden of proof as to any “direct costs” that might be deducted 

from the initial forfeiture amount is on the defendant.  See United 

States v. Mandell, 752 F.3d 544, 553-54 (2d Cir. 2014); United 

States v. Blech, 550 F. App’x 70 (2d Cir. 2014).  The definition 

of “direct costs” is circumscribed: it includes only those costs 

incurred in providing “lawful” goods or services and does not 

include “any part of the overhead expenses of the entity providing 

the goods and services.”  18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(2)(B). 
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II. Argument 

A. The District Court Properly Imposed 

Forfeiture in the Full Amount of 

Investments Shkreli Improperly 

Obtained and Retained For MSMB 

Capital and MSMB Healthcare          

Shkreli does not dispute that the trial evidence showed 

he made material misrepresentations and omissions to his investors 

in connection with the MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare frauds, 

and thus was properly convicted of Counts Three and Six.  Indeed, 

the evidence of Shkreli’s guilt on these counts was overwhelming.   

Shkreli contends, however, that the district court’s 

forfeiture judgment, which rested on those same material 

misrepresentations and omissions, must be vacated for two reasons:  

(1) the district court’s forfeiture decision improperly 

“conflated” the standards for securities fraud (which requires a 

showing of “intent to deceive”) and forfeiture (which requires a 

nexus between the fraud and ill-gotten gains) (Br.61-63), and 

(2) the government failed to prove by a preponderance that his 

misrepresentations and omissions were what actually caused 

specific investors to either give him money or leave that money 

invested in his funds (Br.59-61).  These arguments are meritless. 

It is apparent that the district court, which presided 

over a six-week trial, and received multiple briefs on forfeiture, 

did not “conflate” the guilt and forfeiture standards.  It is 
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equally apparent that court did not err, much less clearly err, in 

finding that Shkreli’s multiple, material misrepresentations and 

omissions caused the gains that he was ordered to forfeit. 

1. The District Court Did Not 

“Conflate” Legal Standards 

Shkreli contends that the district court misapprehended 

the law, purportedly applying the standard for guilt (which did 

not require that any particular investor actually lost money) 

rather than the standard for forfeiture (which requires a 

connection between an investor’s loss and Shkreli’s gain).  The 

district court did no such thing. 

In support of his position, Shkreli refers to the 

district court’s February 26 Memo as the “Rule 29 opinion” or “Rule 

29 decision,” and then states that the March 5 Memo (which granted 

the Forfeiture Motion) was “based on the mere upholding of the 

substantive securities fraud counts in response to Defendant’s 

Rule 29(c) motion” because that decision referenced the February 

26 Memo.  (Br.59-60, 70).  But the February 26 Memo was not limited 

to deciding Shkreli’s Rule 29 Motion on Count Eight; it also 

included a recitation of the trial evidence and an analysis of the 

Loss Motion.  (SPA:16-111).  Moreover, while the district court 

referenced portions of the February 26 Memo in the March 5 Memo, 

it is clear that the court did so to avoid repetition of its prior 
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discussion and analysis of the same factual arguments that Shkreli 

made across multiple motions.  (SPA:120-34).   

For example, the district court adopted its factual 

findings from the February 26 Memo in reaching the conclusion that 

the starting point for the appropriate forfeiture amount (before 

consideration of “direct costs,” discussed infra in Section II.B.) 

should be all the money Shkreli unlawfully obtained and retained 

in MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare.  (SPA:123-25).  This made 

sense because Shkreli’s argument for why all of the money invested 

in the MSMB Funds should not be forfeited was identical to his 

argument as to why there should be no loss amount attributable to 

Counts Three and Six, namely, that “investors in MSMB hedge funds 

did not rely on his representations in choosing to invest in MSMB 

Capital and MSMB Healthcare” so that such investments were neither 

actual losses under the Guidelines nor “proceeds” of his crimes 

for forfeiture.  (SPA:123 n.1).  The court thus unsurprisingly 

stated that it had “considered, and rejected, [this] argument” in 

the February 26 Memo, and incorporated its factual findings from 

that decision by reference.  (SPA:123 n.1). 

That the district court referenced earlier factual 

findings does not suggest that it labored under a misunderstanding 

of the law that applied to those findings.  Indeed, the court 

expressly described the forfeiture standard in the March 5 Memo 
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(SPA:121-22), and applied that standard to conclude that 

forfeiture was appropriate (SPA:123-28).  Shkreli’s contention 

that the court somehow did not understand what law to apply is 

irreconcilable with what the court said.  Notably, and as Shkreli 

himself acknowledges, the forfeiture stage does afford the 

defendant an opportunity to “re-visit the basis for evaluating the 

legal sufficiency of evidence of guilt of the underlying fraud 

count.” (Br.58 (citing United States v. Warshak, 631 F.3d 206, 331 

(6th Cir. 2010)).14 

2. The District Court’s Factual 

Findings Were Not Clearly Erroneous 

Shkreli admits on appeal that the investments in MSMB 

Capital by Richardson, Rosenwald, and Blanton, and the investments 

in MSMB Healthcare by Kocher and David Geller, constitute 

“proceeds” of his frauds, yet argues that the government failed to 

prove by a preponderance that the monies obtained and retained 

                     
14 Shkreli also appears to suggest that the district court 

may have improperly concluded that because the government proved 

at trial that a “reasonable investor” would have found Shkreli’s 

misrepresentations and omissions material, it automatically 

concluded that forfeiture was warranted.  (Br.60).  This is 

incorrect.  The court only referenced the “reasonable investor” 

standard in the Rule 29 portion of the February 26 Memo (SPA:70-

77), and there is no cross-reference to it in the portion of the 

March 5 Memo that addresses the initial forfeiture calculation 

(SPA:123-24).  In any event, as discussed infra, there was more 

than sufficient evidence in the trial record to find by a 

preponderance that each and every MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare 

investor either invested in, or remained invested in, the funds as 

a result of Shkreli’s fraud. 
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from the remaining investors can be forfeited.  (Br.61-64). 

Shkreli’s arguments were rejected by the district court for good 

reason.  His re-hash on appeal does not make them stronger, much 

less demonstrate that the court clearly erred, a standard Shkreli 

ignores but is required to meet.  See Treacy, 639 F.3d at 47. 

First, Shkreli’s argument that certain MSMB Funds 

investors may have invested with him simply because they were 

impressed by his “reputation in the relevant industry” (Br.60) 

actually supports the district court’s finding that all investor 

funds must be forfeited, because to the extent that Shkreli had a 

positive “reputation” as a hedge fund manager, such “reputation” 

was built entirely on Shkreli’s lies.  Shkreli was a terrible hedge 

fund manager and entirely unable to balance risk within a stock 

portfolio, as evidenced by his trading decisions that resulted in 

the failure of Elea Capital; the loss of all funds in MSMB Capital 

by November 2010; the loss through the OREX trades of all newly-

invested funds in MSMB Capital in February 2011; and the loss of 

more than $1 million from MSMB Healthcare.  (GA:81-85, 294-95, 

836, 837, 838-42, 843).  Shkreli was able to convince others that 

he was a successful hedge fund manager only because of the material 

misrepresentations and omissions he made about his track record 

when he pitched the funds to investors, including his failure to 

disclose that Elea Capital had failed; false statements that he 
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had obtained double-digit returns for prior hedge fund investors; 

and repeated lies to investors about the performance of both MSMB 

Funds.  (See Statement of Facts (“SOF”) Sections II.C.3 and 

II.D.3.).   

Shkreli cannot now reasonably argue that because these 

lies worked to convince people of his alleged “brillian[ce],” and 

because some people repeated that false impression to other 

investors, including Hassan, Neill, and Marshall, the money that 

investors gave to the MSMB Funds due to Shkreli’s “reputation” are 

not “proceeds” of his crimes.  (Br.61-64).  To the contrary, the 

district court plainly was entitled to conclude that, because 

Shkreli’s entire “reputation” was a façade built on material 

misrepresentations and omissions designed to obtain and retain 

money in the MSMB Funds, any money given to the funds on that basis 

should be forfeited. 

Second, Shkreli argues that money invested by investors 

who did not testify at trial — Saunders for MSMB Capital, and ten 

investors for MSMB Healthcare — cannot be considered “proceeds” of 

his frauds because there is no evidence that these investors 

“relied” on Shkreli’s misrepresentations when they decided to 

invest in MSMB Capital or MSMB Healthcare.  (Br.63-64).15  This 

                     
15 Shkreli incorrectly cites the government’s position that 

it would not argue to the jury that non-testifying investors were 

induced to initially invest by Shkreli’s misrepresentations and 
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argument ignores the sheer breadth and depth of the material 

misrepresentations and omissions made by Shkreli to investors in 

the course of the two frauds to induce investment, which touched 

on every aspect of the operation of the MSMB Funds – lies regarding 

the funds’ AUM, auditor and/or administrator; Shkreli’s track 

record as a hedge fund manager; the track record of MSMB Capital; 

that the MSMB Funds were long-short hedge funds with hundreds of 

positions; that the funds had liquidity and redemptions were 

possible within 30 days.  (See SOF Sections II.C.3. and II.D.3.).  

This record was sufficient to demonstrate that it is more likely 

than not that the non-testifying investors were induced to invest 

in the funds as a result of such misrepresentations and omissions.16   

Moreover, Shkreli’s argument ignores the substantial 

evidence of the material misrepresentations and omissions that 

Shkreli made to the non-testifying investors to induce them to 

remain invested in the funds, including in the false performance 

                     

omissions (Br.64 (citing GA:303-04)).  This discussion occurred at 

GA:366-72.  Furthermore, Shkreli fails to acknowledge that the 

government also stated that it would argue – and did argue – that 

non-testifying investors were induced to remain invested in the 

funds as a result of Shkreli’s misrepresentations and omissions 

regarding the performance of the funds.  (GA:366-72, 493-98). 

16 As discussed supra, while Shkreli had the right to rely 

upon “additional evidence or information” during the forfeiture 

phase, he never offered anything to establish what he now claims 

about the intent of the investors who did not testify at trial.  

Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2(b)(1)(B).   
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reports and the Wind-Down Email.  As detailed above, the Wind-Down 

Email and performance reports that were sent to investors over a 

period of years falsely reported double-digit returns for each 

fund (see, e.g., GA:723, 767-68, 780-81), even though MSMB Capital 

was defunct by February 2011 (GA:836, 860), and Shkreli had either 

lost through trading, stolen for personal use or funneled to 

Retrophin all of the money invested in MSMB Healthcare, so that 

MSMB Healthcare had no assets other than a small, illiquid 

Retrophin investment (GA:838-42, 861).  The performance reports 

and Wind-Down Email also falsely suggested that the investors could 

redeem their investments for cash as necessary.  (GA:780-81).  

Taken together, this evidence was more than sufficient to prove by 

a preponderance that the non-testifying investors were induced to 

remain invested in the MSMB Funds by Shkreli’s false statements.  

As the district court put it, investors were fraudulently induced 

to “keep invested in MSMB Capital” based on Shkreli’s 

misrepresentations (SPA:101); the same determination was true for 

MSMB Healthcare except that MSMB Healthcare “invest[ed some money] 

in Retrophin,” an investment that was merely an “element of the 

fraudulent scheme,” because Shkreli improperly used MSMB 

Healthcare to “funnel money to Retrophin” (SPA:101-02).   

Moreover, as the crimes charged in Counts Three and Six 

were conspiracies, it was proper to require forfeiture of all funds 
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obtained as part of Shkreli’s overall schemes to defraud, 

regardless of whether only a subset of all investors were 

identified in the indictment or testified at trial.  See United 

States v. Kahale, 09-CR-159, 2010 WL 3851987, at *31 (E.D.N.Y. 

Sept. 27, 2010) (Matsumoto, J.) (requiring forfeiture of all funds 

obtained as part of scheme to defraud, regardless of whether only 

a subset of investors was identified in the indictment), aff’d, 

sub. nom., United States v. Graham, 477 F. App’x 818 (2d Cir. 

2012); see also Capoccia, 503 F.3d at 117-118 (“[w]here the 

conviction itself is for executing a scheme . . . the government 

need only establish that the forfeited assets have the ‘requisite 

nexus’ . . . to that scheme”). 

Third, the specific arguments Shkreli makes regarding 

investors Hassan, Neill and Marshall are meritless, and his 

description of these investors’ testimony is inaccurate.  As 

explained above, to the extent that those investors testified that 

they heard about Shkreli’s “reputation” as a successful hedge fund 

manager from either Blanton or Saunders prior to investing, such 

“reputation” was itself a lie manufactured by Shkreli.  Moreover, 

both the trial record and the district court’s factual findings 

make clear that all three investors were induced to invest in MSMB 

Capital, and remained invested in the fund, as a result of 

Shkreli’s misrepresentations and omissions.  Hassan testified that 
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she invested in MSMB Capital as a result of Shkreli’s 

misrepresentations about the fund’s AUM, auditor and diversified 

portfolio of risk, as well as Shkreli’s false statements and 

omissions directly to her — and not through Saunders — about his 

success as a hedge fund manager.  (GA:33-40, 52; see also SPA:24).  

Marshall and Neill similarly testified that they invested based on 

Shkreli’s statements about his track record; Marshall also found 

significant Shkreli’s statements about the fund’s auditor and its 

liquidity.  (GA:154-59, 244-45, 246; see also SPA:41, 55).  

Further, all three investors testified that they remained invested 

in the fund based on the false performance statements they received 

from Shkreli.  (GA:42-49, 161-62, 247; see also SPA:24-25, 41-42, 

55-56).   

For these reasons, Shkreli fails to show that the 

district court clearly erred in finding all of the money invested 

in MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare constitute “proceeds” of 

Shkreli’s fraud.17   

                     
17 Also misplaced is Shkreli’s reliance on United States v. 

Santos, 553 U.S. 507 (2008), in support of his argument that 

“‘proceeds’ means profits.”  Santos concerned the meaning of the 

term “proceeds” under the money laundering statute, 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1956, which previously did not contain a definition of 

“proceeds.”  As Shkreli acknowledges, for purposes of determining 

his forfeiture obligation, 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(2) defines 

“proceeds.”  
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B. Shkreli Did Not Meet His Burden to 

Show that the Forfeiture Imposed 

Should be Reduced by “Direct Costs” 

In addition to arguing that the district court 

miscalculated the starting point for forfeiture on Counts Three 

and Six, Shkreli also argues that such amounts should be reduced 

to zero because he purportedly met his burden to show that he is 

entitled to deductions for “direct costs” — specifically, money in 

the funds he lost through trading (Br.65) and money investors 

allegedly made as “profits” on their investments (Br.68-71).  

Shkreli is wrong.  As an initial matter, he was given 

multiple opportunities to submit either additional evidence or an 

analysis of the existing trial evidence (e.g., bank records) in 

support of his arguments for “direct costs,” and he repeatedly 

declined to do so.  (SPA:124-31).  In the absence of any evidence 

or analysis enumerating Shkreli’s alleged “direct costs,” the 

district court correctly found that Shkreli did not meet his burden 

to show the existence of such costs.  See Mandell, 752 F.3d at 554 

(a defendant who “failed to present any evidence and no more than 

cursory argument” regarding direct costs “failed to meet his 

burden”).  He cannot now cure that failure on appeal.     

Moreover, as noted previously, this Court reviews a 

district court’s factual findings “for clear error.”  Treacy, 639 

F.3d at 47.  Again, Shkreli does not acknowledge this standard.  
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The district court’s finding that Shkreli did not incur “direct 

costs” was not clearly erroneous, and Shkreli’s arguments to the 

contrary are unavailing. 

First, Shkreli argues that any losses suffered by the 

MSMB Funds must be deducted as “direct costs” because Shkreli used 

investors’ funds to provide a lawful service — namely, to invest 

in the stock market as he had promised — and the investors 

themselves assumed the risk of losing those funds once Shkreli 

invested them.  (Br.66-67).  But there was significant evidence, 

as detailed above, that Shkreli did not use the funds invested in 

the MSMB Funds to “invest in the stock market” as promised.  To 

the contrary, Shkreli stole money invested in those funds for his 

personal use, including more than $200,000 from MSMB Capital and 

more than $1.1 million from MSMB Healthcare.  (GA:803-06, 807-10, 

827-34, 862-63; GX:506-E, 509-E, 510-E).  Shkreli also ceased 

trading in MSMB Healthcare altogether, and then improperly 

diverted remaining money in MSMB Healthcare to Retrophin, so that 

the only asset MSMB Healthcare had was illiquid Retrophin shares.  

(GA:364, 838-42, 843; GX:503-E, 504-E, 505-E, 506-E, 507-B, 507-

D).  Contrary to Shkreli’s assertions, he did not do so lawfully 

(Br.67); rather, Shkreli falsely advised MSMB Healthcare investors 

in the PPMs that the fund would operate as a long-short hedge fund 

with 100 to 200 positions, and further falsely advised investors 
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that the language in the Revised PPM that permitted him to make 

private equity investments would not be used for anything more 

than a “small” investment in Retrophin.  (GA:203, 612-66, 667-772, 

779, 835).  The district court correctly concluded that funds 

stolen by Shkreli for his “personal and unrelated professional 

obligations” or “improperly . . . funnel[ed] to Retrophin” could 

not constitute “direct costs,” because they did not constitute the 

provision of a “lawful service.”  (SPA:128).  The conclusion urged 

by Shkreli — that the funds unlawfully diverted by him towards 

unauthorized investments constitute deductible “direct costs” — 

would undermine not just the purposes of the forfeiture statute, 

but the jury’s guilty verdict.    

In addition, any investor funds that Shkreli actually 

invested in the stock market and were subsequently lost through 

trading — which, again, Shkreli made no attempt to quantify before 

the district court — also cannot be deducted as “direct costs.”  

With respect to MSMB Capital, Shkreli points specifically to the 

OREX trading losses as alleged “direct costs.”  (Br.65-66).18  They 

were not, as the district court explained: (1) the funds in MSMB 

Capital used for the OREX trades had been obtained by material 

misrepresentations and omissions, (2) the OREX losses were due to 

                     
18 Shkreli does not argue that MSMB Healthcare suffered 

trading losses that should be deducted as “direct costs.”  (Br.67).   
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Shkreli’s “failure to follow the proper procedure in executing the 

trade” because he both failed to get a “locate” and lied to Merrill 

Lynch (which might have been able to stem the losses) about the 

“locate,” and (3) Shkreli’s investment of all of MSMB Capital’s 

assets in a single position in the OREX trades was contrary to his 

representations to his investors that MSMB Capital was a long-

short fund with 100 to 200 diversified positions.  (SPA:125-26; 

see also GA:96-111, 558-611, 386-87).  Based on these findings, 

the court properly concluded that the OREX trade losses could not 

be deducted as “direct costs” because they were not costs related 

to the provision of “lawful services”; rather, they “[were] the 

result of the fraudulent conduct for which [Shkreli] was convicted: 

he deceived investors into believing they were invested in a 

sophisticated and diversified hedge fund, but chose instead to 

gamble the money entrusted to him on a series of improperly-

conducted trades in a single stock.”  (SPA:127).19 

                     
19 Shkreli’s citation of United States v. Bonventre, 646 

F. App’x 73 (2d Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 676 (2017) 

(see Br.67), does not assist him.  In Bonventre, the defendants 

were convicted of a securities fraud scheme whereby investors’ 

money was taken based on misrepresentations that such money would 

be invested in the stock market; the money was never invested, but 

was instead stolen.  Id.  This Court affirmed the district court’s 

decision that no “direct costs” could be deducted because the 

conspirators did not sell or provide any “lawful services.”  Id. 

at 90.  So, too, here.  Bonventre also provides no support for 

Shkreli’s argument (Br.65-66) that his use of investor funds to 

engage in trades like the OREX trades — which were not within the 

scope of the “lawful services” that Shkreli had advertised, namely 
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Second, Shkreli argues that he is entitled to deduct as 

“direct costs” any “robust return” that investors in the MSMB Funds 

received on their investments.  (Br.68-71).  His sole legal support 

for this argument is United States v. Hollnagel, No. 10-Cr.-195, 

2013 WL 5348317 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 24, 2013), which Shkreli claims 

stands for the proposition that profits to investors constitute 

“direct costs.”  (Br.70). 

As an initial matter, Shkreli’s assertion that investors 

in the MSMB Funds received a “robust return” on their investments 

is highly misleading, at best.  As detailed above, the money and 

Retrophin shares that certain investors in the MSMB Funds 

ultimately received from Shkreli — years after the initial frauds 

were committed — were not the result of Shkreli’s lawful operation 

of the MSMB Funds, nor did they constitute the “return” of money 

that had been held by Shkreli in the interim.  Instead, (1) the 

money and Retrophin shares provided to investors via the settlement 

and sham consulting agreements were stolen by Shkreli, Greebel and 

others from a third party (Retrophin) (see SOF II.E.3), (2) the 

Retrophin shares distributed to the MSMB Capital investors did not 

                     

the maintenance of a hedge fund portfolio of hundreds of long and 

short positions — may result in the deduction of “direct costs.”  

These costs (if they existed at all) were associated with 

transactions that Shkreli was not authorized to make; he is not 

entitled to benefit from the fact that he engaged in unauthorized 

transactions as part of the scheme. 
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constitute the “return” of their initial investment — which was 

lost by February 1, 2011 — but were based on a fabricated interest 

in Retrophin that was created in November and December 2012 (see 

SOF II.E.1 and II.E.2), and (3) the Retrophin shares distributed 

to the MSMB Healthcare investors did not constitute the “return” 

of their initial investment because such funds (whatever remained 

after Shkreli’s theft and trading losses) were improperly funneled 

through Retrophin (see SOF II.E.2; GA: 667-722, 838-42, 861).  

Furthermore, the Retrophin shares distributed to the investors 

following the reverse merger had no inherent value at the time of 

distribution, since they were restricted and could not be traded.  

(T:1047-48, 1979-81, 2355-56).   

The district court correctly rejected Shkreli’s “robust 

return” argument, referencing its factual findings in connection 

with its response to the identical argument made in Shkreli’s Loss 

Motion.  (SPA:123 n.1).  There, the court concluded that any 

payments made by Retrophin to MSMB Capital and MSMB Healthcare 

investors as a result of the settlement and sham consulting 

agreements did not constitute a return of investors’ funds, but 

were rather part of the Retrophin Theft Scheme (which the court 

found the government had proven by a preponderance).  (SPA:102-

04).  The court similarly found that the MSMB Healthcare investment 

in Retrophin did not support Shkreli’s argument that the later 
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distribution of Retrophin shares to MSMB Healthcare investors was 

a “return” of their investment because funneling money from MSMB 

Healthcare to Retrophin was itself an “element of the fraudulent 

scheme.”  (SPA:101).  

Moreover, Shkreli’s argument relies upon the mistaken 

premise that forfeiture is based upon loss as opposed to the 

defendant’s ill-gotten gain.  See Torres, 703 F.3d at 203 

(forfeiture, unlike restitution, is gain based).  Also unavailing 

is Shkreli’s reliance upon Hollnagel, which is neither binding on 

this Court nor involved facts analogous to those of this case.  

The defendants in Hollnagel were convicted of fraudulent financing 

schemes related to loans and investments involving the buying, 

selling, and leasing of commercial airplanes.  At the forfeiture 

phase, the defendants put on affirmative evidence (including the 

testimony of at least one witness and various documents) to 

demonstrate that, based on the direct operation of those schemes, 

they had made monthly distributions on the investors’ loans and 

investments and had also returned capital directly to investors 

that could be deducted as “direct costs.”  2013 WL 5348317, at *8-

15.  Here, Shkreli has advanced no specific evidence to quantify 

any such “direct costs.”  Furthermore, the Hollnagel court relied, 

in part, on § 981(a)(2)(C), id. at *6, which applies only when a 

fraudulent loan or extension of credit is at issue; no such loan 
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or extension exists here.  Shkreli also cannot demonstrate, as did 

the defendants in Hollnagel, that he did not profit from the MSMB 

Funds.  To the contrary, the trial record shows that Shkreli stole 

more than $1 million of investor funds for personal use; improperly 

used investor funds to prop up Retrophin for many years, during 

which period Shkreli stole funds directly from Retrophin as well; 

and leveraged the fact of prior investments in MSMB Capital to 

ensnare additional investors in both MSMB Capital and MSMB 

Healthcare. 

For these reasons, the district court did not err, much 

less clearly err, in denying Shkreli’s request to reduce the 

forfeiture imposed on Counts Three and Six by unspecified “direct 

costs,” and his argument on appeal should be rejected, as he has 

failed to meet his burden to show the existence of, much less to 

quantify, such costs. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the judgment should be 

affirmed in all respects. 

Dated: Brooklyn, New York 

 November 30, 2018 
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